
 

1 
 

KASSON TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

Monday, May 20, 2024 7:00 p.m. 
Kasson Township Hall, 10988 S. Newman Road, Maple City, MI 49664 

 
Minutes 

  

1. Call Meeting to Order/Pledge of Allegiance 
Chairman Lanham called the meeting to order at 7:00pm with the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 

2. Roll Call of Commissioners and Staff/Recognition of Visitors 
A. Present: Chairman – Mike Lanham; Zoning Board of Appeals- Dave Noonan; 

Vice Chairman- Jerry Roush; Secretary T Eftaxiadis; Township Board Rep- Tad 

Carter 

Absent: None 

B. Staff: Tim Cypher, Zoning Administrator; Marsha Wolf, Recording Secretary 

C. Visitors present: approximately 5 visitors 

  

3. Consideration of Agenda: Additions or Corrections 
Chairman Lanham asked for a motion to approve the agenda as presented. 
Eftaxiadis moved to approve the agenda as presented; Carter seconded. All 
present in favor, motion carried.   

 
  

4. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest- None   
 

  

5. Approval of Minutes – April 15, 2024   
Chairman Lanham asked for a motion to accept the minutes for April 15, 2024 

meeting. Noonan moved to approve the minutes for April 15, 2024; Eftaxiadis 

seconded. All remaining present in favor, motion carried. 

  

6. Correspondence Received - 
Cypher advised he received notice for a Zoom meeting for June 3rd at 11a.m. 

for a decision on Enduro. Cypher can be contacted for the meeting number.  

  

7. General Public Comment – None 
Mary Shimek, co-owner of Bohemian Lavender Farm, a hobby farm of 9 years. 
Mary commented that as the township prepares to review township 
ordinances, she would like to thank the township for their previous support of 
small farms and their associated markets for stands. 



 

2 
 

 
 

8. Area Reports  
A. Chairperson – Commissioner Lanham – No Report 
B. Secretary – Commissioner Eftaxiadis – No Report 
C. Township Board – Commissioner Carter – No Report 
D. Zoning Board of Appeals – Commissioner Noonan - No Report  
E. Zoning Administrator’s Report – ZA Cypher – Cypher did not receive 
any questions for the April 2024 ZA Report and asked the board to confirm it 
was acceptable. The board acknowledged that there were no questions or 
concerns with the April 2024 ZA Report.   

  

9. New Business   
A. Verizon Wireless/TAG Towers- Proposed 255’ tower 

1. Presentation by Applicant 
Bob Pryzbylo and Rob Label were present as reps for Verizon/TAG. 
Applicants are proposing a special use permit for a new wireless 
communication facility as presented on Attachment A.  There is a 
gap in service along the proposed location on M-72 and 
Verizon/Tag are looking to improve service. When determining the 
best site for a new facility, Verizon/TAG try to locate and use an 
already existing tower. The applicants explained that no existing 
tower is available that provides service to the coverage required.  
 
Verizon/TAG have secured a lease agreement with Elmer’s for the 
proposed site (100’x100’) within the industrial gravel district. The 
proposal would contain a 255’ lattice tower with equipment 
(cabinets w/canopy, propane tank and generator) located at the 
base. Applicant commented that the township ordinance is 
ambiguous for regulations for wireless facilities, and upon review 
with Cypher, were able to find 2 zones with land use that they used 
to interpret the requirements. Facility will be located behind berm 
on Elmer’s property and exceeds the setback requirements. The 
tower will be lit as required per FAA with lights at the top and 
additional lights mounted half-way down the tower. The lights will 
be white during the day and red during the evening. The lights are 
state of the art halogen systems that uses horizontal lighting beams 
engineered to be less visibly intrusive in comparison to older tower 
models. Applicants added that Verizon/TAG chose site due to 
engineers determining search ring as a pin point as to where a 
tower should be located. The proposed tower will allow the gap to 
be filled between existing towers. Verizon/TAG advised that adding 
the new tower will add capacity for existing towers that have 



 

3 
 

reached or exceeded the amount of coverage zone needed, and the 
new tower, in turn, will prevent outages.  
 

2. PC Questions/Discussion with Applicant 
Commission asked the applicants if they anticipate other providers 
using the tower. Applicants commented that yes, Verizon will be 
the first occupant and other carriers will follow and be on the 
tower. The tower is designed for 4 carriers, Verizon being one and 
the other 3 available for other providers and emergency services. 
 
Commission commented coverage map does not seem to impact 
the rural area with limited residences is surrounds. Applicants 
advised that the tower will dramatically improve coverage and 
outages along M-72 and surrounding residences.  Applicants 
advised there is a requirement for communication companies to 
get service into rural areas and areas of significant traffic and 
coverage provides additional safety as 97% of 911 calls are made 
from cell phones. Verizon would also use this tower to aid the 
surrounding towers for additional capacity as needed.  
 
Commission asked on the relationship between height of the tower 
and the return of signal.  Applicant commented that 250’ is the best 
height for balancing distance covered by signal strength.  
Applicant added that they will rent a spot on the tower from TAG 
Towers. 
 
Commission asked if there is anything in code that could prevent 
this proposal. Cypher advised he spoke with legal counsel and the 
applicant and it was determined that a public hearing was the best 
option for this proposal since it would require a notice to anyone 
within 300 ft. and a notice published in the newspaper. Cypher 
stated that most people do not have a land line, so coverage needs 
to be considered.   
 
Commission asked the applicants on the decision of the lattice 
tower vs. the monopole. Applicant advised that a tower of 255’ 
can’t use a monopole, therefore, a self-support lattice was 
determined to be the least obtrusive option for the area.  
 
Cypher asked for a better clarification and definition on coverage 
be provided for the public hearing. Applicants advised they will go 
into more detail and add a scale for public hearing.  
 



 

4 
 

Commission asked how far the signal reaches. The applicants 
advised approximately 3 miles…but topography, trees etc. can 
make a difference in how far it will go. Verizon will provide an 
additional map that shows the 3-mile coverage for the public 
hearing.  
 
Commission asked how far the tower lights will it be seen and if it 
will go further into neighboring vicinities. Verizon advised they will 
add more detail on the new technology for the public hearing to 
show the general public. Applicants advised light won’t go into 
neighboring vicinities since it is a dulling lighting system that fades 
out the further it goes and the light is intended to stay in the air and 
not transmit any light to land.   
 
Commission asked about the aesthetics of a lattice tower in an area 
that is rural, the dark sky issue and questions the property 
value/marketability of property.  Applicant advised although there 
is residential potential in the future, they put the proposal together 
to determine a least intrusive location to appeal to the area. In 
addition, if the tower was proposed to be a lesser height, the 
coverage provided would be less and more towers would be 
required to create the same coverage. Applicant advised they have 
studies and surveys showing property values have not gone down 
with tower structures. Applicants advised studies showed land with 
potential future residential properties are more sought after when 
they have dependable coverage than no coverage for homes. 
 

3. Public Comment- None 
 

4. Applicants Response to Public Comment- N/A 
 

5. PC Discussion with Staff 
Cypher will provide a finding of fact; the ordinance and a site-plan 
review to see if a decision can be made on the June public hearing.  
 

6. Deliberation/Motion to set Public Hearing for June 17, 2024 
Chairman Lanham asked for a motion to set the Public Hearing on 
June 17, 2024, for Verizon Wireless/TAG Towers Special Use 
Application at 2488 W. Empire Highway for a 255’ tower. 
Eftaxiadis moved to set the Public Hearing on June 17, 2024, for 
Verizon Wireless/TAG Towers Special Use Application at 2488 W. 
Empire Hwy. for a 255’ tower, Carter seconded. All present in 
favor, motion carried.  
 



 

5 
 

 
B. New Cass, LLC – Rezoning Request 

1. Presentation by Applicant 
Mark McKeller was in attendance as the attorney representing New 
Cass LLC. New Cass LLC is related to Cherry Republic, who is 
requesting rezoning (Attachment B and C) a 1.97-acre property 
located in Maple City (Attachment D). The property currently 
houses several older mobile homes and a ranch home. The 
applicant is requesting to rezone the property to increase current 
density requirements and remove mobile homes on the property. It 
is anticipated that once rezoning is complete, duplexes/townhouses 
will be added to the property to provide affordable housing to 
employees of Cherry Republic. Applicant is requesting a variance to 
allow for the capacity of a 2-acre parcel.  It was also mentioned that 
if unable to rezone, the applicant will look into options working 
with the neighbors for a property line adjustment to increase the 
lot size to 2-acres. The Ranch home on the property has been 
remodeled and all current systems for the mobile homes were 
deemed fit by the health department, but depending on the size of 
the homes may need to be updated.  
 
The housing will be available to mostly of full-time employees and 
may serve other industries within the county for housing for 
employees. Rebecca Benedict, Executive Assistant for Cherry 
Republic was present for the meeting. Benedict advised it is a 
struggle to source affordable housing within Leelanau County and 
many employees are only left with the option to live in surrounding 
counties and endure long commutes to the workplace daily.  
 
 

2. PC Questions/Discussion with Applicant 
Commissioners agreed the county needs workforce housing and 
asked on the anticipated time-line and scope of project. The 
applicant advised they would like to start the first phase of the 
project (rezoning) to attract workers who have to travel from out of 
the county. Applicant added the potential of other companies that 
may be interested in utilizing a portion of the housing 
development. Once the property gets to the building phase, it will 
be determined on the specific types of housing will be built and 
availability.  
 
Commissioners asked how many people can potentially live on the 
property with 2-acres. Cypher stated that there can be up to 16 
multi-family homes per acre, making to total 32. Applicant advised 



 

6 
 

they do not anticipate having that many units at this time. 
Commission advised if the proposal is rezoned, the applicant will 
have to come back for a public hearing on the housing ideas and 
quantities. The applicant anticipates late summer or early fall 
before they provide a proposal for the structures.  
 
Commission asked how the cost to employees will be assessed? The 
applicant advised Cherry Republic will manage and base rent off of 
employee wages to make it affordable. More information on 
density and planned structures will be presented during the 
building proposal meeting if the rezoning is approved. 
 
Commission voiced concern on covenants and deed restrictions.  
 

3. Public Comment -None 
 

4. Applicants Response to Public Comment - None 
 

5. PC Discussion with Staff 
Cypher advised the applicant is following procedures for zoning 
amendment 116, chapter 12. 
 

6. Deliberation/Motion to set Public Hearing for June 17, 2024 
Chairman Lanham asked for a motion to set the Public Hearing on 
June 17, 2024, for New Cass, LLC to rezone from Medium & Small 
Lot Zoning to Mixed Use Commercial Core Zoning. Noonan moved 
to set the Public Hearing on June 17, 2024, for New Cass, LLC to 
rezone from Medium & Small Lot Zoning to Mixed Use 
Commercial Core Zoning at 8491 S. Maple St., Roush seconded. All 
present in favor, motion carried.  

 

10. Old Business   
A. Zoning Ordinance amendments for PC review – Lanham advised this be 

tabled until July meeting. Commissioners agreed. 
 

B. By-Laws Review- Lanham advised this be tabled until July due to delay in 
legal review. Commissioners agreed. 
 

11. General Public Comment - None 
 

12. Comments from the Commissioners – None 
  

13. Next Meeting: Monday, June 17, 2024; Kasson Township Hall   
  



 

7 
 

14. Adjournment   
 

Chairman Lanham asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting. Roush moved 

to adjourn the meeting; Noonan seconded. All present in favor, motion 

carried. The meeting was adjourned at 8:30 pm.  

 

 

 

 Respectfully submitted, 

Marsha Wolf 

Kasson Township Recording Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A 



 

8 
 

 
 



 

9 
 

 



 

10 
 

 



 

11 
 

 



 

12 
 

 



 

13 
 

 



 

14 
 

 



 

15 
 

 



 

16 
 

 



 

17 
 

 



 

18 
 

 



 

19 
 

 



 

20 
 

 



 

21 
 

 



 

22 
 

 



 

23 
 

 



 

24 
 

 



 

25 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

26 
 

Attachment B 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   



 

27 
 

Attachment C 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

28 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

29 
 

Attachment D 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

30 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


